GILLIARD v. GRUENBERG

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

STEPHANIE A. GILLIARD,

Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.:

V. : Re Document Ne:.:

JELENAMCWILLIAMS , Chairman, Federal :
Deposit Insurance Corporatiget al,* :

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Doc. 65

16-2007RC)

46, 47

DENYING PLAINTIFF 'SMOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER; DENYING PLAINTIFF 'SMOTION
FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER AND PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Stephanie A. Gilliard seeks a protective order, a temporanaireag order, and

a preliminary injunction authorizing her to decline to hand over to her employer, thalFede

Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”), audio tapes containing conversatianseoeher and

her supervisors that she recorded surreptitiously while at work. Ms. Gillsrésks this Court

to bar the FDIC from taking disciplinary action against her for making thediegsrand for

refusing to allonher employer t@ccess themFinding that Ms. Gilliard has not demonstrated

that the relief thashe seeks is warrawtethe Court denies her motions.

1 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(d), the Court substitutes Jelena

McWilliams as a defendant.
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I[I. BACKGROUND

Ms. Gilliard, an AfricanrAmerican woman, is a Senior Administrative Specialist in the
AdministrativeManagement Section (“AMS”ftrategic Planning, Budget, and Reporting
Branch (“SPBR”);Division of Risk Management Supervision (“RMS”) at the FDE&ke2d
Am. Comp. 11 4, 67, ECF No. 53. She has worked at the FDIC since Junesg@Gllliard
Affidavit at 1, Ex. A, Def.’s Combined Opp’'n to Pl.’s Mdobr Protective Order & Mot. for
Temp. Restraining Order & Prelim. Injunction (“Def.’s Opp’n”), ECF No. 52-1. oAding to
Ms. Glliard, her tenure has been marked by “years” of “harassment, discriminaftianion of
severe emotional distress, threats, disparate treatmeémhare from her supervisors.” Mot. for
Protective Order at 3, ECF No. 46.

Ms. Gilliard filed thisaction in October 2016SeeCompl., ECF No. 1. In her complaint,
she alleged thaturinga perod from about March 2013 to December 2014, she suffered a host
of alleged adversemployment actionsthe denial of several promotions, the loss of
employment responsibilities, unfavorable performance reviews, and exposure titeanukt
environment—due teacial discriminatiorand/oras retaliation for her protected EEO activity.
See generallgd Am. Compl. Manwpf Ms. Gilliard’s claims focusn her interactions with Ms.
Janice Butler (the former Chief of AMS and Ms. GilliartBsmerfirst-line supervisor) and Mr.
Phillip Mento (theformerAssociate Director of SPBR, RMS and Ms. Gilliartbsmersecond-
line supervisor).See2d Am. Compl. {1 67, 10-30. One such allegaitateghat Ms. Butler
and Mr. Mento learned that Ms. Gilliahdd been recondg conversations she had with them
and that she planned to use the recordings to suppataimas before the Equal Employment
Office. See2d Am. Compl. 11 45, 67—69. Purportedly to stop her from doing so, on or about

October 29, 2014, Ms. Butler and Mr. Mento ordered Ms. Gilliard not to record conversations



she had with anf#DIC employeesind warned her that she would face disciplinary action if they
learnedthat she had defied their orde8ee2d Am. Compl. § 68. Ms. Gilliard assetttnat the
order was given as retaliation for le@rgagement in protected EEO activigee2d Am. Compl.
1 69. In addition, Ms. Gilliard contended that the command constituted part of a hostile work
environment.See2d Am. Compl. § 45.

Shortly after MsGilliard filed her complaint, Defendant FDIC moved to have it
dismissed.SeegenerallyDef.’s Mot. to Dismiss or, in the Alternaé for Summ. J., ECF No.
18. While Defendant’s motion was pendiig. Gilliard filed themotions for a protective order
and for a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction that arengiselefore the
Court? See generalliot. for Protective Order; Mot. fafemp Restraining Order & Prelim.
Injunction (“Mot. for PI”), ECF No. 47.

Ms. Gilliard’s motions concerevents that occurred 2017 and early 2018. In July
2017, Ms. Gillard emailed Maureen Swesn the Deputy Director of RMSgeking “medical
leave due to stress” and asking for “intervention¥is. Gilliard’s dealings witiMr. Mento. See
Email from Gilliard to Sweeney (July 17, 2017), Ex. H, ECF No852Ms. Gilliard asserted that
Mr. Mento “continued to lie to [her] about [her] performance expectations,tonkes and
instructions,” and contended that when around Mr. Mestte,“fear[ed] for her physical safety”
and “fdlt] like a victim of rape.” Email from Gilliard to\Beeney (July 17, 2017), Ex. H. The
next month, Ms. Gilliard followed up witlls. Sweeney, suggesting that she could provide audio
tapes of meetings during which Mr.edto hadpurportediylied to and berated herEmail from

Gilliard to Sweeney (Aug. 23, 2017), Ex. J, ECF No. 52-10.

2 The Court has since resolved the FDIC’s motion, dismissing some of Ms. Gilliard’s
claims and denying summary judgment as prematseeGilliard v. Gruenberg No. 16-2007,
2018 WL 147194%t*7-20 (D.D.C. Mar. 26, 2018).
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Days later, Mr. Joseph Masisak, the Assistant Director for LaboEaplioyee Relations
at the FDC, emailed Ms. Gilliard, noting that his staff was investigating her recent complaint
and asking for evidence that wld assisin the investigation SeeEmail from Masisak to
Gilliard (Aug. 25, 2017), Ex. K, ECF No. 52-11. Asserting that she had “endured . . . more than
4 years of [Mr.] Mento ‘trumping’ up charges against [her],” Ms. Gillard dedltogurn over
any evidence in her possession, but noted that she would hartteorezordings for purposes
of entering a settlement agreeme8teEmail from Gilliard to Masisak (Aug. 25, 2017), Ex. K,
ECF No. 2-11.In responseMr. Masisak repeated his requestplainingthat the FDIC’s Anti
Harassment Program requires employees to cooperate-imfdiog inquiries concerning
allegations of harassment, that Ms. Gilliard’s email to Ms. Swesnggested that she possessed
audio recordings thaevealedVir. Mento’s harassment, and that the tapes would assist the
investigators in coming to the most appropriate outcofe=Email from Masisak to Gilliard
(Aug. 30, 2017), Ex. L, ECF No. 52-12.

Beause, in Ms. Gilliard’s view, “it was clear that the [FDIC] was only concewitd
protecting itself,” instead of immediately submitting her audio tapes to Mr. Masisakiled a
workers’ compensation claimith the Department of Labor’s Officer of Workers’
CompensatiofPrograms Reply to Def.’s Combined Opp’n to Pl.’s Mot. for Protective Order &
Mot. for Temp. Restraining Order & Prelim. Injunction (“Pl.’s Reply”) at ZFENo. 55;see
alsoNotice of Occupational Disease and Claim for Compensation (“Workers’ Comm”Céat
1 (Sept. 1, 2017), Ex. O, ECF No. 52-15. Intlam, Ms. Gilliard allegedamong other things,
thatin 2013, Mr. Mento had “disparaged” her and had “verbally abused and assaulted” her,

causing her to suffer postaumatic stress disorder. Workers’ Comp. Claim as. Gilliard



wrote thatbecause she feared that no one would believe her assertions, she had recorded
conversations with Mr. MentaSeeWorkers’ Compl. Gaim at 1.

Before the Department of Labor resolved Ms. Gilliard’s workers’ compensaaim,
Ms. Gilliard supplied Mr. Masisak and others waHewaudio recordings that captureteetings
between Ms. Gilliard aniir. Mento. SeeEmail from Gilliard to Masisaketal. (Oct. 17, 2017),
Ex. M, ECF No. 52-13see als€Email from Masisak to Gilliard (Oct. 18, 201(f¢questing any
additional audio recordings that might support Ms. Gilliard’s claiag) N, ECF No. 52-14.
According to emails accompanying the audio recordings, they were captunedtai® that
took place in early 2017See, e.g.Email from Gilliard to Masisalet al. (Oct. 17, 2017), Ex. M
at 1 Thereafter, Ms. Gilliard received notice denying her workers’ compensdaim. See
Notice of Decision, Ex. BB, ECF No. 52-28.

Nearly two months after the denial of Ms. Gilliard’s workers’ compensatamgl
Benjamin Vaughnthe Ading Associate Director of SPBRent Ms. Gilliard a memorandum
ordering heto attend an investigatory interview abthe allegationghatshe hadnadein her
claim about Mr. Mento.SeeOrder to Participate in Investigatory Intervielix. U, ECF No. 52-
21. The memorandum warned that “[f]ailure to fully cooperate and respond truthfultlylead|
to a disciplinary action up to and including removal from federal servioeder to Participate
in Investigatory Interviewi=x. U. ThoughMs. Gilliard regarded the request as curious because
her claim lad already been denieshe nonetheless attended the meetBgeMot. for
Protective Order at 6; Admin. Inquiry (Feb. 21, 2018) at 1, Ex. V, ECF No. 52-22.

At the meeting, an employee frdfIC’s Labor and Employees Relations sectiiost
asked Ms. Gilliard several questions about her allegatiSagAdmin. Inquiry (Feb. 21, 2018),

at -3, Ex. V. Then, Mr. VaugharderedVis. Gilliard to provide copies of all audio recordings



featuringany FDICemployes that shenadmadeafter October 29, 2014, without obtaining
permission to recordSeeAdmin. Inquiry (Feb. 21, 2018) at 1-4, EX; $€e alsdrder to
Provide Audio Files, Ex. W, ECF No. 52-23. Mr. Vaughn offered Ms. Gilliard three options for
providing the audio recordings: (1) she could email a complete, unedited copy atidachle;
(2) she could provide her phone to the FDIC’s Division of Internet Technology (“Cdmt) DIT
would make a copy of each audio file; or (3) she could provide her phone to a mutually
acceptable tragtription service, which would provide a transcript of each audio recording at the
FDIC’s expense SeeAdmin. Inquiry (Feb. 21, 2018) at 4, Ex. $ge alsdrder to Provide
Audio Files, Ex. W. Mr. Vaughn ordered Msilliard to elect one of the three options by close
of business on the day after the meetiBgeOrder b Provide Audio Files, Ex. W. Ande
directedher to provide the audio files no later than one day after she selected an Spton.
Orderto Provide Audio Files, Ex. W. At the meeting, Ms. Gilliard asserted that she would not
comply with the orderSeeAdmin. Inquiry (Feb. 21, 2018) at 4, Ex. V.

When Ms. Gilliard failed to comply with the deadlirteat Mr. Vaughnhadestablished,
he sent her another order once again demanding that she produce the rec6ebggserally
Second Order to Produce Recordings, Ex. X, ECF No. 52-24. Mr. Vaughn’'s memorandum
stated that Ms. Gilliard’sefusals constituted “insubordination” and that her “misconduct will
result in a proposal for disciplinary action.” Second Order to Produce Recordings, EReX
memorandum addressed a host of concerns that Ms. Gilliard had voiced about th8eeder.
Second Order to Produce Recordings, Ex. X. In addition, it provided three reasons for the
FDIC’s request: (1) to obtain information necessary to perform a complestigaten of Ms.
Gilliard’s allegationsagainst Mr. Mento, (2) because the audio recordings showed that Ms.

Gilliard had violated the October 2014 order directing her not to surreptitious|y reeor



conversations with FDIC employees, and (3) because the recordings might confaiential
information about FDIC employees. Second Ordertalice Recordings at Ex. X.

Ms. Gilliard again declined to comply with Mr. Vaughn’s order. Instead, she filed a
Motion for a Protective Order and a Motion for Temporary Restraining Order aindiRagy
Injunction, both of which are presently before this CoGee generalliot. for Protective
Order; Mot. for Pl. Ms. Gilliard asks this Cotnt“prevent [the FDIC] from compelling [her] to
give [it] copies of audio tape recordings of conversations between her and FDI&y/eespland
to “protect[]” her from disciplinary action related her refusal to turn over the recordings. Mot.
for Protective Order at Bee alsaMot. for Pl at 1. Ms. Gilliard’s motions are now ripe for

decision.

. ANALYSIS
A. Plaintiff's Motion f or a Protective Order is Denied

Ms. Gilliard asks this Court to emta protective orddiorbiddingthe FDIC from
compelling her to turn over copies of audio tapes containing conversations betwaerd her
supervisors that she recorded surreptitiously while at wedeMot. for Rotective Order at.1
Ms. Gillard also requests “protedatp] . . . from the Defendant taking disciplinary action against
her for making the recordings and/or refusing to allow Defendant accb&srid Mot. for
Protectve Order at 1. The Court concludes that Ms. Gilliard has not met her burden of showing
good cause necessary for entry of a protective order and, thus, denies her motion.

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26(b) allows for “discovery regarding any indeged
matter that is relevant to any party’s claim or de¢esrsd proportional to the needs of the case.”
Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1kee alsdn re England 375 F.3d 1169, 1177 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (“The

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure encourage the exchange of informationithmmagl



discovery.”) However, under Federal Rule 26(c), a judge may, “for good cause,aiss
protective ordelimiting, among other things, the scope of discovery or the parties’ ability to
disseminate information discovered during litigatitmprotect a party or person from
annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(c)(1).
To show good cause for entry of a protective order, the moving party “must aetispéific
facts to support its request and cannot rely on speculative or conclusoryestatériends of
the Earth v. U.SDep’t of the Interior 236 F.R.D. 39, 41 (D.D.C. 2006) (quotibgw v.
Whitman 207 F.R.D. 9, 10-11 (D.D.C. 2002)). “Trial courts have ‘broad discretion . .. to
decide when a protective order is appropraatd what degree of protection is required.”
Standing Rock Sioux Tribe v. U.S. Army Corps of i8n849 F. Supp. 3d 516, 520 (D.D.C.
2017) (amissionin original) (quotingSeattle Times Co. v. Rhinehat67 U.S. 20, 36 (1984)). In
deciding whetheto limit or deny discovery under Rule 2% courts balance “the
burdensomeness to the moving party against the requestor’s need for, and relethance of
information sought.”Doe v. Provident Life & Acc. Ins. C@247 F.R.D. 218, 221 (D.D.C. 2008).
Coutts mayalsoconsider a variety aftherfactors including “the harm which disclosure would
cause to the party seeking to protect the informati@urka v. U.S. Dep’t of Health & Human
Servs, 87 F.3d 508, 517 (D.C. Cir. 1996ge alsdJnited States v. Microsoft Cord65 F.3d
952, 960 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“The ‘good cause’ standard in the Rudlexible one that requires
an individualized balancing of the many interests that may be present incalpadase.”).
Assuming that the FDIC’s order constituted a oigry request, the Court finds that Ms.

Gilliard has not shown the good cause necessary for entry of a protective osdéillisird

3 The parties disagree about wietthe FDIC’s demand constituted an informal
discovery request or an instruction related primarily to the internalsafathe agency. fe
Court certainly agrees with the FDIC that Title VIl does not invite the judiciamnyiccomanage
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first urges that a protective order is warranted because she “had a right tthensd@tdings.”

Mot. for Protedve Order at 1. She apparently bases this argument on the fact that District of
Columbia law does natriminalize the surreptitious recording of a conversation by a pathat
conversation.SeeEmail from Gilliard to Polley (Oct. 30, 2014) (making s@hargumenin
response to an order directing her to cease surreptitiously recording), Ex. FOERE®MN
However, the Court sees no reason wieylegality of recordingn the District of Columbia

might preclude an employer from restricting its empésyrom recordingr might suffice as a
basis for barringin employer frontemanding recordings made in defiance of a direction not to
record without permssion. Furthermore, Ms. Gilliard neglects to explain why the legality of her
conduct might make turning over the tapes annoying, embarrassing, oppregewsj\ax or

might cause undue burden.

an agency’'snternal affairs.See, e.gDeJesus v. WP Co. L1841 F.3d 527, 534 (D.C. Cir.
2016) (noting that courts “are not ‘a supersonnel department that reexamines an entity’s
business decisions’™); Def.’s Opp’n at 14 (arguing that a court should hesitatertere with
federal agency’s personnel actiongnd the Court also recognizes that Rule 26(c) only affords
district courts thg@ower to regulate discovery; it does not permit a court to purport to control the
use and dissemination of information obtained through means other than dis@seiy re
Rafferty 864 F.2d 151, 155 (D.C. Cir. 1988) (concluding that a protective order impermissibly
regulated the disclosure of information that a party had obtained beforeditigagan)see

also, e.g.Sedtle Times Cq.467 U.S. at 34[T]he party may disseminate the identical
information covered by the protective order as long as the information is gainechthmeags
independent of the court’s process). But the Court hesitates suggest that a demand upon

an employee to supply information relevant to a pending Title VIl action is undeniatody
discovery request so long as the demand comes in the course of the employee’s woriClutie
E.E.O.C. v. City of JolieR39 F.R.D. 490, 4934 (N.D. Ill. 2006) (entering a protective order in
a Title VIl action barring a defendaamployer from compelling an employee to submit
information about his immigration status that the employer requested only afsititiff filed

his lawsuit and that had minimal relevance to the pending dispute). Because thn@etinat

Ms. Gilliard has not shown good cause, the Court need not resolve this dispute.
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Next, Ms. Gilliard asserts that a protective order is warranted because hesHidk
entitled tothe recordings outsidsf the normal course of discovetySeeMot. for Protective
Order at 1, 7-11. According to Ms. Gilliard, the FDIC seeks to jump the gun on accessing the
tapes in order to “know exactly what other damaging evideise'Gilliard haso supporher
claims. Mot. for Protective Order at As a threshold matter, the parties have now begun
discoverydiminishinganyforce behind the argument that a protective odad¢atying the
FDIC’s access to the tapmsswarranted at this poinfurthermore, it is not at all clear how the
purportedly premate look at relevant evidee might prejudice Ms. Gilliard. hie Court is not
persuaded that the FDIC’s demanayht cause annoyance, embarrassment, oppression, expense,
or undue burden to Ms. Gilliard of the sort that would justify entry of a protectles.or

Ms. Gilliard next contendghat the timeline that the FDIC offered her for submitting the
tapes was “ridiculous” and “definitely oppressive” and that the options for subnitgngwere
“impracticable, unworkable, and unenforceable.” Mot Protective Order at-8. But it
appearso this Courthat the FDIC offered significant flexibility with respect to options for
turning over the tapesSeeDef.’s Opp’n at 20-22. Though Ms. Gilliard declares that the agency
unreasonably asked her to turn over more than three years’ worth of recordingatiarabm
daysand ordeed her to do so using methods that might expose her other communications—
including privileged communications with her attorneshe neglects to even clarify how many

tapesshe recorded over that time period, how long it migasonably takber to produce the

4 Though Ms. Gilliard suggests vaguely that she “may never have to turn over” some of
the tapes, she fails to explain why this might be so. Mot. for Protective @rdleAad the
Court struggles to square this assertion with Ms. Gilliard’s contentions thaiesleetihe tapes
for the purpose of supporting her claims and thataped contain “damaging evidence.” See
Mot. for Protective Order &, 7. Thus, it appears to the Court that Ms. Gilliard’s argument in
favor of a protective order hinges largely on whethertiming of the demand wagpropriate.

10



tapes, and whether she could have offered other methods for producing the tapes thatwsould ha
been unobjectionable to her and to the ages®eMot. for ProtectiveOrder at 912. Thus, the
Court has no basis for saying that the request was unreasonable or unworkable.

Perhaps more importantly, thoudWs. Gilliard fails to explain why the purported
“impracticabl[ity]” of the FDIC’s timeline might justify an order entirely barring it from
demanding the tapesd prohibiting it from pursuing disciplinary action against herdbrsing
to provide the tapes. To the extent that Ms. Gilliard could not comply with the February 2018
order to submit the tap&s a matter bdays she has now had substantial notics trer
employer expects her to turn over the taged plenty of opportunity to devise a plan for
submitting them. The Court disagrees with Ms. Gilliard that any deviation fronriaicqosed
discovery schedalmight warrant her requested protective order.

Finally, Ms. Gilliard contends that the FDIC only requested the tapes to harasslte
retaliate against her for bringing claims againstatpency SeeMot. for Protective Order at;2
Pl.’s Replyat2—3. However, this bald assertion does not justiéentry of a protective order.
For one thing, Ms. Gilliard does not appear to contest that the audio tapes are reltéhuant t
matter and she has not shown that the discovery request is overi8eadot. for Protective
Order at 4, 7. Indeed, Ms. Gilliard contends that she recorded the tapes with an eyeisovea
them to suppotter claims.SeeMot. for Protective Order at 4, As a general matterparts are
hesitant to deny a party accessdlevant discovery absent a showthgt the request is
“irrelevant, unduly burdensome, or otherwise impropdétridrades vHolder, 286 F.R.D. 64, 66
(D.D.C. 2012)see also, e.gCartagena v. Centerpoint Nine, In803 F.R.D. 109, 113-14
(D.D.C. 2014)granting a motion to compel discovery regarding plaintiff's immigration status

because the matter wédsghly relevant to dactual dispute at the heart of th[e] casd¥)s.
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Gilliard has fallen well short of showing that discovery regarding the audiadiegershould be
barred.

In addition, as explained in greater detail below, the FDIC offers threectaliatory
reasonsdr its demand. Specifically, the FDIC explained that it demanded the tape®litain
information necessary to perform a complete investigation of Ms. Gilliatdgasions against
Mr. Mento, (2) because the audio recordings showed that Ms. Gilliard had violateddberOct
2014 order directing her not to surreptitiously record her conversations with Riplioyees,
and (3) because the recordings might contain confidential information about FDIG/eewplo
Second Order to Produce Recordiag® Ex. X. Ms.Gilliard claims that these explanations are
pretextualseePl.’s Reply at 26, however, she offers little more than bald statements to support
her position. In sum, the Court concludes that Ms. Gilliard has not shown good cause necessary
for entry of a protective order and, therefore, it denies her motion.

B. Plaintiff's Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary | njunction is
Denied

Having rejected Ms. Gilliard’s request for a protective order, the Court oggidersher
Motion for Temporary Restraining Order and Preliminary Injunctipa] preliminary
injunction is an injunction to protect [the movant] from irreparable injury and temeghe
court’s power to render a meaningful decision after a trial on the rhefiedect Milk Producers,
Inc. v. Johanns400 F.3d 939, 954 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (quoting 11A Charles Alan Wright, Arthur
R. Miller, & Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and &rdures § 2947 (2d ed. 1992)). In the
context of a Title VII action, such an injurat may be appropriate to ward against retaliation or
reprisal by an employer and to “ensure the integrity and effectiven@#eo¥ Il proceedings.”
Wagner v. Taylqr836 F.2d 566, 573—74 (D.C. Cir. 1987). “[T]he decision to grant injunctive

relief is a discretionary exercise of the district court’s equitable pdwdahn Doe Co. v.
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Consumer Fin. Prot. Burea35 F. Supp. 3d 194, 201 (D.D.C. 2017) (quotieg Containers
Ltd. v. Stena AB890 F.2d 1205, 1209 (D.C. Cir. 1989)). A preliminary injunction is an
“extraordinary remedy,” and one is “never awarded as of rightiriter v. Nat'l Res. Def.
Council, Inc, 555 U.S. 7, 24 (2008). To warrant preliminary injunctive relief, the moving party
“must establish thgs]he is likely to succeedn the merits, thgs]he is likely to suffer
irreparable harm in the absence of preliminary relief, that the balance of thesetijost in h[er]
favor, and that an injunction is in the public interedt”at 2Q “The standard that applies to
preliminary injunctions also applies to temporary restraining ordétggerience Works, Inc. v.
Chag 267 F. Supp. 2d 93, 96 (D.D.C. 2003).

In her motionMs. Gilliard asks this Court to enter a temporary restraining order and
preliminary injunctiorbarringthe FDIC from “taking disciplinary action against [her] for audio
recording conversations . and/or for her failure to turn over any audio recordings of
conversations between her and any of Defendant’s employees in her possessiornot Riatt f
1. Ms.Gilliard appears to base her request oncleem that the FDIC ordered her to turn over
the audio tapes—and threatened disciplinary action if she refused to dstalationfor her
protected EEO activity. SeeMot. for Pl at 8—10.As explained b&w, the Court finds that Ms.

Gilliard has not shown that she is likely to succeed emhrits of her clainrhas not shown that

> The FDIC does not appear to dispute this Cearthority to issue Ms. Gilliard’s
requested injunctionSeeDef.’s Opp’n at 29-30But seeDef.’s Opp’n at 31 & n.36. Generally,
a plaintiff must exhaust her administrative remedies before bringing a/Tlitdaim to this
Court. SeeSataki v. Broad. Bd. of Governorg33 F. Supp. 2d 22, 43 (D.D.C. 2010). However,
in Wagner v. Taylqr836 F.2d 566 (D.C. Cir. 1987), the D.C. Circuit held that “federal district
courts are authorized to afford interim ingtine relief against retaliatory transfers and other acts
of reprisal while the administrative and judicial processes are ongdithgat 570. But see
Satakj 733 F. Supp. 2d at 423 (explaining that a districbart may only entertain a request for
injunctive relief that sdes to presere the status quo). Because this Court construes Ms.
Gilliard’s request as one to maintain the status quo, the Court finds that it hathtiré@ato
grant relief.
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she would likely suffer irreparable harm absent entry ®mporaryestraining order and
preliminaryinjunction, and has not shown that the balancing of the equities and public interest
considerations tip in her favor. Accordingly, the Court denies her motion.
1. Plaintiff Has Not Shown That She is Likely to Succeed on the Merits of HElaim

The Court must first consider whether Ms. Gilliard has shown that she is likely to
succeean the merits of her claitihat theFDIC demanddthat she turn over her surreptitiously
recorded audio tapesand vowedlisciplinary actiorfor her refusato do so—asretaliation for
her protectedEEO activity® Ms. Gilliard asserts thahe is likely to succeed on the merits of her
claim because (1) District of Columbia law features no prohibition barringyatpaa
conversation from recording without the permission of others; (2) the FDIC hasmoyagde
policy barring such recording; (3) the agency’s reasons for forbidding the &pinigr ordering
her to turn over the tapes aexdicaland its invocatiomf those reasons in this litigation are
pretext and(4) the methods and timelineahthe agency designed for heistdomit the
recordings weré@mpracticable” and “unfathomable,” in part because the plan could have
resulted in the exposure of privileged communications between Ms. Gilliard andoneewathat
are kept orthe samalevice on which Ms. Gilliard has kejpte requested audio recordindsee

Mot. for P1 at9—11;see alsd®l.’s Reply at 23, 9-13. Ms. Gilliard also asserts that she has

® The parties express some confusion about which claim Ms. Gilliard mustisiioshe
is likely to succeed on to meet her burd&eeDef.’s Opp’n at 26 (noting that “it is less than
clear upon which claim Plaintiff believes she is likely to succeed”). Botlepatidress whether
Ms. Gilliard is likely to succeed on the hosti®rk environment claim asserted in her Second
Amended Complaint, which referenced Ms. Butler’s and Mr. Mento’s October 2014 order to M
Gilliard that she cease surreptitiously recording her colleadgseaDef.’s Opp’n at 26-30; Pl.’s
Reply at 1620; 2d Am. Compl. T 45. Both parties also consider whether Ms. Gilliard has shown
that the February 2018 demand that Ms. Gilliard turn over the audio tapes wasorgtaBee
Def.’s Opp’n at 31-36; Pl.’s Reply at 2-6, 18. Comsisivith Wagner the Court concludes that
its analysis should focus primarily on the latt8&eeWagner 836 F.2d at 576 (assessing
purported acts of reprisal that occurred after the filing of Plaintiff's caimt)!
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alreadyturned over any audio recordings in her posseshmimmight be relevant to the
allegations that she included in her workers’ compensation claim about Mr. Mento, anddhus, t
FDIC has no legitimate reason for requesting any other recorddegRl.’s Reply a9, 21. The
agency supplies noetailiabry explanations for its actions and argues that Ms. Gilliard has not
shown that any of the agency’s explanations are pretexdaaDef.’s Opp’n at 30, 32-33The
Court agrees with the FDIC that Ms. Gilliard et supplied evidence suggestthgt the
agencys explanation$or its actions lack credence. Accordingly, the Court concludes that Ms.
Gilliard has failed to show that she is likely to succeed on the merits of Hati@teclaim.

Title VIl of the Civil Rights Act of 196dars retaliation against an employee or job
applicant because that individual has “made a charge, testified, or partigipatey manner in
an investigation, proceeding, or hearing” under Title VII. 42 U.S.C. § 260®e-n the
absence of direct evidence, a claim of retaliation is analyzed under thstéweburdershifting
frameworkestablished itMcDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gregd11 U.S. 792 (1973). Under the
McDonnell Douglagramework, the plaintiff is first required to make oudrana facieclaim of
retaliation Seed. at 802. To do sdhe claimat must show that she (1) “engaged in statutorily
protected activity; (2) that [s]he suffered a materially adverse agfibfeb] employer; and (3)
that a causal link connects the twabnes v. Bernank&57 F.3d 670, 677 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
Once the platiff establishes @rima faciecase of retaliation, the burden of production shifts to
the defendant to supplggitimate, nonretaliatory reasons for its actio8geBaloch v.
Kempthrone550 F.3d 1191, 1199 (D.C. Cir. 200&fter the employer setsub a nonretaliatory
reason for the employment action, the burden shifts back to the empldpeedciace sufficient

evidence that would discredit those reasons and show that the actions wetemetalid at
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1200. “A plaintiff can meet this burden by casting doubt on the objective validity of the
employer’s explanation.’Morris v. McCarthy 825 F.3d 658, 671 (D.C. Cir. 2016).

Ms. Gilliard has not shown that she is likely to succeed on the merits of hexti@tali
case becausshe has not produced sufficient evidence that would discredit the FDIC’s
nonretaliatory explanations for ordering her to cease surreptitiously recbeticglleagues, for
demanding that she turn over audio tapes that she recorded in violation of that ordar, and f
suggesting that it would pursue disciplinary action against Ms. Gilliard if fiieeseto hand
over tre tapes. First, ith respect to the agency’s October 2014 order that Ms. Gilliaskce
recording her colleagues, the ageegplained to Ms. Gilliard that it ised the order because
“[t]he FDIC has an interest in fostering trust and maintaining communicatammels required
for effective workplace relationships and for accomplishing the work of the . FIH®@ail from
Polley to Gilliard(Nov. 6, 2014), Ex. F, ECF No. 52-6. &hgencyave Ms. Gilliard the
instruction as soon as it became aware that she had been recording FDhQswaédtout the
consent of other partieSeeEmail from Polley to GilliardNov. 6, 2014), Ex. F.

Ms. Gilliard confirms that she recorded conversations witltbidgaguesnd explains
that she did so in an effort to gather evidence to support her Title VIl cl&eedlot. for Pl at
5. She disputes the agency’s rationale for ordering her to cease recordoogdidgto Ms.
Gilliard, the FDIC’s proffered explanation‘ia farce and without merit” because “[c]learly,
there is no trust betweéhe Plaintiff and Mr. Mento and other FDIC employees.” Mot. for Pl at
9. She notes that the FDIC has no agency-wide policy barring recording, and that hetr conduc
wasnot unlawful. SeeMot. for Pl at 9-11. Ms. Gilliardlso appears to argue that the agency’s
true reason fogiving the order was to prevent her from gathering evidence to support her EEO

claims. SeeMot. for Pl at 14see alsd&Email from Gilliard to Polley(Oct. 30, 2014)Ex. F.
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Ms. Gilliardrelies solely on speculation, and fails to offer any evidence to rebut the
agency'snonretalitory explanation for its order. SMGilliard’scontention that the work
environmenm lackedtrusting relationships seems to support—not undermthe-~=DIC’s
position that it ordered her to stogrordng her colleaguew build trust inthe workplace. And
Ms. Gilliard’s other assertions are equally unavailing. First, Ms. Gillaitd fo explain why the
mere fact that her conduct istriegally barred might preclude her employer from nonetheless
barring the conduct in the workgka for legitimate, natalitory reasonsSecond, that the FDIC
has no agency-wide policy barring recording does not show that it ordered MsdGdlstop
recording as retaliation for her protected EEO activity. The agency isssextder shortly after
discovering that Ms. Gilliard had been recording meetings with her collea§ee&mail from
Butler to Gilliard(Oct. 29, 2014), Ex. F, ECF No. 52-6. Ms. Gilliard points to no other
employee who was also found to be recording, let alone identifies anyone else wipnthe a
permitted to record. Third, Ms. Gilliard does little more than speculate abauisite
motivations for the agency’s direction. This does not satisfy her burden of showittgethat
agency’s explanation was pretext.

With respect to the agency’s February 2018 order directing Ms. Gildatar over any
audio tapes that she recorded after October 2014 without her collepguassionthe agency
offered Ms.Gilliard three reasons why it issiighe order.SeeOrder to Provide Audio Files, Ex.
W; Second Order to Produce Recordings, ExTKe FDIC explained that it had demanded the
tapes (1) to obtain information necessary to perform a complete investigation ofllMed'&
allegatiors against Mr. Mento, (2) because the audio recordings showed that Ms. Gilliard had
violated the October 2014 order directing her not to surreptitiously record her @iorersvith

FDIC employees, and (3) because the recordings might contain confidefiotialation about
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FDIC employees.SeeSecond Order to Produce Recordings at 2, ExeX;alsdef.’s Opp’n at
30, 32-35. Ms. Gilliard has failed to supply evidence refuting these reasons.

Ms. Gilliard contends that these explanations are pretext bettaisgency never before
expressed concern about or initiated an investigation into her earlier alhesgatiharassment.
SeePl.’s Reply ak—4. She offers that, instead of pursuing an investigatiorthatdaims
against Mr. Mento that she mentioned in her workers’ compensation claim, the agenty soug
the audio recordings to “obtain in advance what [it] believe[s] might be damaguhence in
the case at bar.” Pl.’s Reply at 4. Ms. Gilliardd&p supply evidence to support her
contentions.First, Ms. Gilliardcontendghat she asserted other harassment allegationshey
were not similarly investigatedSeePl.’s Reply at 34. The Court finds this argument
unpersuasive. Wile theFDIC’s Anti-Harassment Progranequires supervisors and managers to
“take immediate action to assess whether or not the alleged harassment daterRrdgram
does notequire any specific action or mandate a-faading inquiry or investigation into every
allegation SeeAnti-Harassment Program at3, Ex. I, ECF No. 52-9. Without more
information about the nature of Ms. Gilliard’s prior complaints and what steps theydgekc
with respect to those allegatigrise Court cannot conclude that the agency approached these
allegatiors differently or that any difference ihd way that the agency approached these
allegations suggestlatthe investigation into the claims that were asserted in Ms. Gilliard’s

workers’ compensation claimas pretextual. Second, Ms. Gilliard fails to support her

” The AntiHarassment Prograimn effect at the time that Ms. Gilliard filed her
September 2017, workers’ compensation claim took effect in December 36&Anti-
Harassment Program at 4, Ex. |, ECF No. 52-9. The record presently before théoc@eurot
reveal what sort of anharassment program was in place befoecember 2015 and does not
showwhether any of Ms. Gilliard’s prior harassment complaiinét are the subject of this
lawsuit—most of which are based on events occurring from a period from March 2013 to
December 2014-were investigated pursuant to the prior policy. Howerestd is ample
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contention that the real reason for the agency’s request was to procure evideace t@lhis
case sooner than discovery would otherwise allow. Ms. Gilliard offers no indication, f
example, why the agency might haaught this evidence outside of the normal course of
discovery or how she might be at all prejudiced if the agency received the quedionadvance
of a court-imposed discovery schedule.

Ms. Gilliard next argues that the agency’s order to turn over the tapesutedsait
“fishing expedition.” Pl.’s Reply at 10. She complains thabhtbthods and timeline that the
agency designed for her to submit the recordings were “impracticable” afathtomable,” in
part because the plan could have resulted in the exposure of privileged communicatiaen
Ms. Gilliard and her attorney that dcept on the samaevice on which Ms. Gilliard keeplse
requested audio recordingSeeMot. for Pl at 3-11;see alsd?l.’s Reply at 2—-3, 9-13. Ms.
Gilliard also asserts that she has already turned over any audio resandigg possessidhat
mightbe relevant to the allegations that she included in her workers’ compensatiomlotait
Mr. Mento, and thus, the FDIC has no legitimate reason for requesting any othrdimgs. See
Pl’s Reply at 910, 21.

First, as noted above, Ms. Gilliard criticizes the methods and timeline that thg agenc
designed for her to submit the tapes, but she faitsaor this criticism to any concrete
information about, for example, how many tapes she might have to produce; howit dlifficu
would be to produce them; and whether she might be able to produce thengsconda

timeline and using enethodthat isaggregable tdoth her and to the agenc8he likewise fails

evidenceshowing that Ms. Gilliard’prior harassment allegation®xe, at the least, investigated
through the EEO procesSee, e.gAcceptance of Formal Discrimination Complaint at 2, EX.

MM (accepting forinvestigation a claim that Ms. Gilliard “was subjected to harassment that rose
to the level of a hostile work environment”), ECF No. 18-39.
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to demonstrate why she would not have been able to produce the requested recordings without
exposing communications between her and her counsel. For one thing, if Ms. Gillesed &gr
email each audio recording to the FDIC—one of the options offered for submittiragpéds-+
presumably none of her protected communications would be revealed in thertr&esond,
Ms. Gilliard’s assertion that she has already produced the audio tapes thelteslesvelate to
her allegations against Mr. Mento does not suggest that the agency’s explanatisndcioand
are pretext. The agency is not obligateddoept Ms. Gilliard’s view of which tapes constitute
relevant evidence. Furthermotbke agency supplied other reasons for seeking the tapes—
namely, that the recordinggppear to reveal that Ms. Gilliard defied an order directing her not to
surreptitiously tape and that they might contain confidential informatanerning other FIT
employees Thesdssueshave not been resolved by Ms. Gilliard’s submission of a handful of
tapes thashe believeselate to her allegations against Mr. Mento.

Finally, the agency explains that it wouldvealegitimate, nonretalitory reasdar
proposing disciplinary action for Ms. Gilliard’s refusal to submit the audio reugsd5ee
Def.’s Opph at 3334. Specifically, Ms. Gilliard’s refusal toirn over the tapes would detfyo
reasonable agencydars, constituting insubordinatiokeeDef.’s Opp’n at 3-35. Ms. Gilliard
appears to argue that this reason for proposing disciplinary action would beyaidbexause
she has already handed over all audio recordings that support her claim of atagmamst
Mr. Mento. SeePl.’s Reply at 14-15. Ms. Gilliard has not, however, undercut the agency’s
reasons for suggesting that it might propose disciplinary action. It orderedtben ovenll
recordings that she made of her colleagues after October 2014, not just rechatisps t
deemed relevant to the allegatighatshe asserted in her September 2017 workers’

compensation claimSeeOrder to Provide Audio Files, Ex. W; Second Order to Produce
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Recordings, Ex. X. That Ms. Gilliard turned over a portion of her audio recordings does not
mean that the agencpuld not wish tonitiate disciplinary action fononretalitory reasons bed
on her failure to fully comply with its order

In sum, Ms. Gilliard has not demonstrated that she is likely to succeed on theoferits
her claim that the agencygtaliated against her mgquestinghat she cease surreptitiously
recording hercolleagesand demanding thaheturn over audio recordings that she made in
defiance of that order.

2. Plaintiff Has Not Shown That ShéNould Suffer Irreparable Harm

The Court next considers whether Ms. Gilliard has met her burden of showing ibtepara
harm. Ms. Gilliard argues that, in the absenceadkemporary restraining order or preliminary
injunction, she would suffer irreparable harm because (1) she might face disgipttian,
including firing; (2) her refusal to provide the recordings might beléabinsubordination, and
such a label might render her more spsitée to firing in the futureand (3)by having access to
the audio recordings, the FDIC “would gain from being allowed to circumventsbewveiry
rules in this case.'SeeMot. for Pl at 11-12; Pl.’'s Reply at 21. The Court finds that Ms. Gilliard
has not met her burden.

Courts in this jurisdiction have recognized that “[t]he concept of irrepahalohe does
not readily lend itself to definition.'Judicial Watch, Inc. v. Dep’t of Homeland Séd4 F.
Supp. 2d 7, 10 (D.D.C. 2007). Nonetheless, the D.C. Circuit has laid out “several well known
and indisputable principles” that should underlie a court’'s analy¥is. Gas Co. v. FERT58
F.2d 669, 674 (D.C. Cir. 1985). First, the gateking preliminary injunctive relief must
demonstrate that the claimed injury is “both certain and great” and “actual ateowetical.”

Id. Second, the movant “must show that ‘[t]he injury complained of [is] of sachnence that
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there is a ‘clear angresent’ need for equitable relief to prevent irreparable harid.”
(alterations in original) (quotingshland QOil, Inc. v. FTC409 F. Supp. 297, 307 (D.D.C. 19¥6
And, finally, the injury must be “beyond remediatiorChaplaincy of Full Gospel Churchey.
England 454 F.3d 290, 297 (D.C. Cir. 2006). Some courts in this jurisdiction have found that “a
more stringent showing of irreparable injury is required when a plaintiff, evaitle VIl case,
seeks a preliminary injunction against the fedeoakegnment in the personnel are&®bnds v.
Heyman 950 F. Supp. 1202, 1212 (D.D.C. 199t)rogated on other grounds

First, at this time, the FDIC has not actually proposed any disciplinary aag@inst Ms.
Gilliard. SeeDef.’s Opp’n at 31-32Thus, it is difficult to say that Ms. Gilliard's &t
defined, potential injury is “both certain and great” and “actual and not thedafetsecond,
Ms. Gilliard has not demonstrated that any proposed disciplinary action woutdutens
irrepaable harm. As the FDIC argudsss of employment is not legally irreparabfeeDef.’s
Oppn at 36—38.The Supreme Court hastated that[t]he possibility that adequate
compensatory or other corrective relief will be available at a dts, in the ordinary course of
litigation weighs heavily against a claim of irreparable har®ampson v. Murrgy15 U.S. 61,
90 (1974). Consistent with that principleuets in this jurisdicon have held that “loss of
income does not constituteaparable injury because the financial loss can be remedied with
money damages.int’| Ass’n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers v. Nat'l Mediation, Bd@4 F.
Supp. 2d 135, 142 (D.D.C 2005ge alsd-arris v. Rice 453 F. Supp. 2d 76, 79 (D.D.C 2006)
(“[G]iven the court’s equitable powers to remedy for loss in employment through, for example
back pay and time in service credit, cases are legion holding that loss of et aypeas not
constitute irreparable injury.”). To be sure;@xtraordinary cas® an enployee may show that

loss of employment constitutes irreparable haB8aeg e.g, Risteen v. Youth for Understanding,
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Inc., 245 F. Supp. 2d 1, 16 (D.D.C 2002) (finding that plaintiff had shown irreparable injury by
demonstrating that he would not haveesscto “critical medical attention because he has lost his
health insurance”Bonds 950 F. Supp. at 1210-18igcerning irreparable harm with regard to a
plaintiff who was 58 years old, had worked for the employer for nearly 40 years, hallege c
educdion, and plaintiff had shown “how much of her life [was] tied into her career”). But M
Gilliard has failed to explain why the present circumstances might constitutersuch a
extraordinary matterFurthermore, she has failed to explain why any otherpdiisary action
short of terminationthat she might factor her refusal to submit the audio recordingght
constituterreparableharm.

Third, Ms. Gilliard asserts that by having access to the audio recordings, the FDIC
“would gain from being allowed to circumvent the discovery rules in this cases R&gly at
21. But Ms. Gilliard neglects to explamowthe FDIC would gain owhy this gain might
prejudice her sutthat it might constitute harmlet alone harm that iscertain and gredt.
Thus, the Court concludes that Ms. Gilliard has not demonstrated that any proposedaligcipli
action that might result from her refusal tomtlaver the tape constitutes irreparable harm.

3. Plaintiff Has Not Shown that the Balance of the Equitieand Public Interest
ConsiderationsFavor Injunctive Relief

Next, Ms. Gilliard contends that balancing of the equities and public interest
considerations favor granting her motiddeeMot. for Pl at 12—-15 She argues that the FDIC
would suffer minimal harm should the Court order that Ms. Gilliard need not complyhaith
agency’'scommando submit the audio recordiagSeeMot. for Pl at 12—-14 Ms. Gilliard
suggests that the FDIC could seek production of the audio recordings in the course ofydiscove
in this caseand that the agency should not be permitted to subvert normal discovery procedures

to gain early access to discoverable materials and to gain access to nih&riaiay not be
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discoverable.SeeMot. for Pl at 12—-14. She contends tltcontrastjn the absence of
injunctive relief, the FDIC could “try to fabricate a defense or justificatiomunter what is
said on the tapes.” Mot. for Pl at 13. Ms. @ilialso claims that “after hearing what is on the
tapes the Defendant is likely to retaliate against [ha¥|ct. for Pl at 13.Finally, Ms. Gilliard
asserts that the public interest would be served by granting her requistdiboause
permitting the gency to demand the tapes migbefid a chilling efct on other individuals who
contemplate legally gathering proof of violation of their rights by their eyepdo” Mot. for Pl
at 14-15. The FDIC disagrees, arguing that it would suffer substantial inpoguse its
authority over personnel affairs would be undermined by a court order perrMgir@illiard to
defy its demand that she supply evideralated tcan internal investigationDef.’s Opp’n at
38-41. The Court finds that Ms. Gilliard has not met herdiurd

In determining whether to grant a preliminary injunction “courts must balance the
competing claims of injury and must consider the effect on each party of thegant
withholding of the requested reliefWinter, 555 U.S. at 24 (internal quotationarks omitted)
(quotingAmoco Prod. Co. Will. of Gambel] 480 U.S. 531, 542 (1987)). “In exercising their
sound discretion, courts . . . should [also] pay particular regard for the public conseqnence
employing the extraordinary remedy of injunctioWinter, 555 U.S. at 24 (quoting/einberger
v. RomereBarcelq 456 U.S. 305, 312 (1982)). These considerations merge into one factor
when the government is the non-mova8eeNken v. Holder556 U.S. 418, 435 (2009).

First,Ms. Gilliard has produced revidence supporting her claim that the FDIC might
“try to fabricate a defense or justification” or that the agency “is likehgtaliate’absent an
injunction. Secondhe Court agrees with the FDIC thhe Court’s intervention ithis matter

which appears to relate primarily to internal agency affawveuld undermine the agency’s
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ability to manage its own personnel and affairs. Third, the Court finds unpersuasive Ms
Gilliard’s bald contention that declining to grant her relief might have a chéfiegt an
employees’ efforts to seek evidence supipg their Title VII claims. Finally, the Court sees no
reason for delaying the FDIC’s access to the tapes on the basis that the disnatery
schedule should govern when these tapesedeased.

It should come aso surprise that the subjects of a Title VII suit may interact with one
another regarding issudsatrelate only tangentially to the litigatiofthe timing of the FDIC’s
access to the disputed tapes appears to this Court to be such an issue. The Court must not
position itself as the arbitef everybarelylitigation-related employeeemployer dispute. The
Court concludes that Ms. Gilliard has not shown that the balancing of the equities and public

interest considerations favor her regted relief.

IV. CONCLUSION

TheFDIC ordered Ms. Gilliard not to surreptitiously tape record other FDIC &yaps.
It appears that she has defied that order. As a result, the FDIC appears todsgingnghether
to discipline Ms. Gilliardor her disobedince To theextent that Ms. Gilliard wishes
challenge any proposed discipline that results fnemdefianceshe must do so using the normal
channels that she has available to her. Accordingly, for the foregoing reRksomisff's Motion
for Protective Order and Plaintiff’'s Motion for Temporary Restraining Order Rrgdiminary
Injunction areDENIED. An order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is separately and

contemporaneously issued.

Dated: June 26, 2018 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States Districludge
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